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Interviewae: Leon Holz {H}

Date of Recording: &Aug. 15, 19930

Ident. Number: 03— 3
Track Numbar: T1-51

Interviawers: Rania Perel (R), B Silviane Feder (S5)

R:

Okay, this is what we are interested [in]. When you said
the history, the first information about your birth place
bafore the Helpcaust, like how many people were there. Not
a long history, just 2000 or 5000...

: Well, I tell you whataver you ask ma, I tell you whatever,

there were...
S0 this history could tell us maybe how many people lived?
... 50 you can sklp the historical.

: No, I well tell you. No it doesn't say how many people...

may I read it?

: The spelling of the places.
: The sources for this material, I can tramslate if you want

[me] to, because the sources which were at the digposition
0f the historic Jewish commumnity of Progsnitz, so was the
rabbl from Pozen, Poznahh [Poland] later, Dr. Freiman was
very limited. It was a protocol book to the community with
inscription from the years 1722 till 1792 and the protocel
book to the community Gemilut Khasadim, which is Ffrom 1725
till 1864, bdbut it doasn't say...

Wa are recording already.

Oh, T will read [it then]}. Sc¢ ycu know thers are old, old
information which I got from a lady in Tel Aviv who was
born in Prossnitz, her parents were close friends of my
parents but it doeen't gay, it's only...

: We are interested basically in the last perliod just before

the Holocaust of the Jewish life and we can add of the
history that in this place began to flourish with the
Jawlzh 1life in the 1700's so we can add that and we can
read it on your own.

¥Ya. I can give you just a few hints here, for instance.




just a minute...the Jewish community and then
significance, the local industry., after the Protestants
have left the city which came under Catholic domination.
In the year 1639 there were in Prossnitz, 64 Jewish houses
with 143 Jewish inhabitants. This nunmber [of Jews] grew
after the Jewish community received... how do you say...
received pecple who flew {fled from] the Khmelnitski
Pogroms and the Jews who ware rejected from Vianna.
Anyway, 1 repeat it now, the number of Jewish persons
increased by the survivors of the Khmelnitski Pegrom and
{by] the people who wera forced to leave Vienna. In the
year 1669 there were 64 Jewlish families, in the year 1676
was the inauguration of the first synagogue. The
inayguration sermon was performed by Rabbl Calib Felbear
but its first rabbl in Jewlsh community in Prossnitz wasg
Isaac Khais Ben Avraham and later the rabhi of the whole
province [Moravia)l was Manakhem Khrokhmal and Nakhum
Trebitsch.

Thera wag a fight batwean the Jews and the Catholic
community but it was a fight just of economical character.
In 1713 the amount of Jews amounted to 318 familiesz with
1,393 people. In 1798 there were already 1,459 Jews in the
city. According to the law there were admitted 328 Jewish
families. The Jewish community of Prossnitz was wvery
strongly influenced by Shabbetal Zevi and one of the
laaders of this movement was Judah Leilb Progsnitz and
later on he was one of the first communities which
accapted the 1dea [of] the Haskala.

In 1843 there started the first Jewigh elementary school
for Jewlsh and Catholic children. 1831 started [by] the
Jew from Prossnitz, Feit Ehrengtamm, a factory which was
the baginning of the modern Jewish textile industry. In
the year 1842 there was in the c¢ity 135 Jewish textile
merchants and in the year 1859 they estahlished from Meyer
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and Itzkhak Mandel the firat factory for ready-made
clothes.

I read German, and all these dates for the historical
purpose we can make a Xerox copy and translate it. We are
interested now, we neaed to come... it's a good beginning
for the story of the industrialization and T well take
thiz - a monument - and so thig i the thing which we can
translate.

Plaase ba careful with that I can't get it back. That's a
photocopy which this lady produced to [for] me, it's Mrs.
Ruth Federmann, she was born in Prossnitz. I can produce
{for] you a photocopy, it's no prohlem. She came to Israsl
with the children {i.e. the youth Aliya) from Prossnitz.
Today her huaband {whom she married in Israel)] is one of
the co-owners of the Dan Hotel in Israel and I am on gquite
friendly terms with them.

That 1z beautiful., Where were you during the Holocaust
period, or can you tell us how you survived?

I wall give you the atory in a nut-ahell. The Holecaust
period, I have to start & little bit earlier, You know, we
could see the signs coming up. We didn't believe it,
nobody diad.

What year was that?

1938, I will jump a little hit. There was, in September
19348, obligatory military service which I was involwed in,
naturally. as I was in the Reserve, in the Czech army. In
September 23rd of September, in thoge days 1 was eangaged
and it was a Friday night. Next day I was supposed to come
to Prague [to meat my fiancée], you know, it was already
after tha annexation of the Sudetenland by the Germans,
you know, and my fiancée, s8he was residing in Teplice-
B8anov [which] was in Sudetanland and they moved to Prague.
Anyway, 1 was supposed to go to Prague the next day and
when I came home about, between 10 or 11 whatever. We put

on the radioc and there was a general calling to arms. So
my brother and I ...



YTz T i —— e . B —
m——

R:
H:

H:

=:

e

What wag his firat name?

¥Fritz. He's now living in Stockholm in Sweden. We were
expecting it really, any day already, and we have already
our things all packed, a pair of shoes, some undarwear,
and this [etc.]}. So we tock the train and joined our
military units. 1 was down there at the Hungarian border,
you know, this night, we thought already we were at war
with Germany. We left home 1t was about 11 o'clock at
night, 11:30 to 11:45 p.m.

! Which army did you join?

The Czech one, sure, both of us were members of the Czech
army and, well, we left home, my dad blessed us and we
left, Anyway we joined our respective unitsz, my brother
was sent to the Polish border and I went to the Hungarian
frontiar. I was 3upposad t£o Join my unit in UZgorod in
Zakarpat, Russla, it was the eastern part of
Czechoslovakia but after the war it was taken by [annexad
by] Russia. It 18 Russia today [Ukraine in fact]., UZgorod.

We started marching, taking up our positions. 80 we were
in arms, my group, my age group was demobilized on
Novamber 23rd. I was there two months. And when I came
back, my fiancée and I, we dacidsed immediately to get out
{of the country]). Unfortunataly, very unfortunately, whan
we wanted that my parenta would leave with us, we knew how
it was. "No way, first you go and once you're established
[settled] in parnosse [making a living], we'll follow" ...
[tears]... I'm sorry.

: Don't be sorry, I have tears too. That's why we are dolng

it.

80 wa started, whatever, possibility we could investigate
[as to] how to get out. My fiancée's parents had decided
to leave the country too. We got married on the 1lth {of}
December 1938. And now we ware preparing how to get out,
which was wvery, very difficult.

Can I just ask one question? You were only militarized for
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two monthe?

H: Yah, that's in 1938, in 1938, don't forget that's a

b

different story. Look even thogse two months, there was a
hell of a leot of shooting, Hungarians. There were bunkers,
anyway that's not interesting. There was the same story,
for instance, in Slovakia. Thare ware, they callad them
"Hlinka Guard,” you know, a gimilar thing to like the &S
or the SA. Just if you, a couple of times... when I wag on
duty at night time, you know, oh yes, it came, wait a
minute, there was a conference of Godesberg was in
September. [British prime minieter)] Chambarlain. and they
{Germansa] got the Sudeten. Then in Octaober there was the
conference in Vienna [Munich, in fact] with Musscolini and
the Hungarians got part of Slovakia. S0 we had to retreat
but still, you know, according to the agreement they had
with the Hungarians, whoever was born in that part which
wag ceded to Hungary bacame Hungarian, Who were those
pecple? Jews, And those "sons-of-bitchez" [Hlinka Guard]
came sometimes Iin the middle of the night, to the Jewlish
tamilies.

: The Hlinka Guard you're referring to?
: Sure, big, big antl-Semites. There wera a few

opportunities I had, vary few, when I just came upon one
or two families who had just been told by the Hlinka
Guards to get out, see, don't forget in those daysa I was
29 veara of aga, I was young. When the "pakhad®, you know,
1 didn't know, you know what pakhad means? "Pakhad" in
Hebraw ie "fear.™ 5o I could not say they were trying to
escort them. I just simply drew oy gun to let them {the
Hlinka Guards] know (that I wag sarious] or I ghoot you
another 50.....1 53til]l remember these words ["Get off
their backs?"]), I had the opportunity a couple of tises to
gay it. A few familiexs, how few!

Anyway on November 23rd we were demobilized, I came home
and on December llth we married and now we tried to get
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out one way or the other. There were very few ways. And
finally we managed to come in, in one of those illegal
transports which were organized, not by a Jewish
organization. I still remember that one of the organizers
of this transport. We went, we left finally, it was a
Greak fellow. And wall, money, money, we bribed, and they
accepted us,

This is a very important point that you have just said,
and when we write about it we need to bhe clear. You tried
to jeoin this illegally organized transport in order to
escaps and 1t waep headed by a Greek fellow and you had teo
pay money to get in and where would they take you? That's
vary important.

They said it's going teo Israel. They told us it's going to
Ierael, the goal was Israel, but we knew, we ara leaving
by train to Vienna and we left on the dist of March [1939)
{or the 30th of April], finally, we left by train from
Prague. There were still a few [most] unpleasant
gituaticng, you know, we wera already in the compartments,
each of us was allowed to take just a knapsack, one
knapsack out.! You know, & hell of a 1ot of people,
crowded, younger people, eldarly pecple, a lot of
nervousngss, You know for instance, one of those knapgsacks
fell down, there was a thermos bottle, yah, it split and
it stained the sghoes of one of tha BA men, "Whose knapsack
ia it%?" "Mine.” "Qut." Him next atation was the
concentration camp. Cut of the transport and cases like
thieg were several, you know? So there was one thing, to
keep guiet, gquiet.

1l eaving Prague we were permitted to carry with us enly ¢he knapsack and 10
German Marks. We had o be on the raiiway station ar 2 p.m. The train left at
10 p.m. We were not allowed to leave our compartments which were terribly
overcrowded.




Anyway we left Prague and arrived the next day in Vienna
on the Banube Channel. ¥You know there's a certain place
they call the Danube Canal. The whole transport was about
650 peaople. We boarded on the Danube Canal in Vienna. We
boarded two tiny little boats who [which] originally were
for touriste axcureions on the Danube which, undar normal
conditionp, is & beautiful thing. Wa boarded those two
boats, aach of thome tiny little nutshells, with tha
capacity of 120 people and those two boats with a capacity
totally of 240 people had to absorb 650 people. So one of
the fellows there were...lt's transport... alacted or
chose our own leaders of the transport and one of the
fellows always had to be on the bridge and direct, "More
pecple on the laft side, more people on the othar slde® to
prevent the boat from capsizing.

So that was the trip., [under normal conditions] it was a
beautiful trip, you know. We went through Budapest on the
Danuba, past the parliament which was beaautiful. We had
plentiful [plenty] of food. I can't say otherwime. We
passed Semlin, Belgrade, Yugogslavia and then in the tiny
little villages in Rumania, time and again, there came
loads and loade of Jewish people with food, but the boats
didn't stop. Very few times. Anyway 50 finally we arrived
onn the Delta of the Danube, it was Sulina in Rumanjia. You
know the delta there are three arms.

There was a boat, another nutshell of 1500 tons, a boat of
1500 tons, a nutshell. On this boat the sanitary
conditions were not exactly first-class. The committea we
elacted were objecting to the 585 [{who was present in
Sulina suyperviging our boarding). We went on tha *Chovo
58" the whole trip. "You don't like it, 0.X. come en,
let's go back to Vienna." Anyway we [had no choice). each
of ug had 35 cm [of) zoom to lay down, sit, I couldn't sit
down. See, when I had to take [put] on or take off my



pants I had to lay down, because thara was not enough
room. Anyway so that was 1t. We were provided with food
for up to a week bhecause wa've been told, well, it will
take less than a week and we reached the coast of Israal,
Tel Aviv. We knew, that there are still some problems
ahead because there wag Hritish blockade, you know.

So on we went but slowly and slowly... Ya. We
approached... & beautiful trip... the Bosphorus, Istanbul
and 80 on. Well, we had to be underneath the deck, but
£till you know, a "boychick” of 29, 30 years....

How many people were there, 15007

No, 6§50. The boat had 1500 tona.

when you said 35 cm, was that the width you had?

: That was the width of the bed, to sleep, to lle. 6it, I

couldn't. I told you when I wanted to put on or take off
my pants 1 had to lie down to dress or undress. Next over
was the next shift already, it was like sardines, you
knew.

Anyway, finally we approached the coast of Israal, Tal
Aviv by way of Istanbul, the Black Sea, the Dardanelles,
the Mediterranean, and to Tel Aviv, and we bave been told,
well, tonight we disembark. Whatever there was in tins wa
had and foodstuff we gave it to the crew, What for should
we ghlap with the knapsack, the jars ot whatever. O.K..
but there was a but [bump) a tiny little but [bump}., we
didn’t even know it was land. And off we went again to the
gea, to the Mediterranean. And now we were cruising,
cruising, cruising. Nobody would let us in, no way to
land, nowhere. We ware getting short of foodstuff. Then
there developed a very precarious situation.

So, you are now on the boat and you were planning to
disembark, but no one is letting you disembark. So you
have the foodstuff.

: No, we d4idn't have the food anymore.




R: No, because you gave 1t away.

H: We gave 1t away to the crew.

R: S50 the boat is standing?

H: Just crulsing in the Mediterranean because no one would
let us land [dock]. And food was gatting scarce, what was
worse, drinking water was getting sacarca. We had to put
guards in front of the drinking water, you know, only for
gick or elderly people. It came to that extent that the
sanitary installatione were none, 8o we had some
nondescript things which we had to put with some wood or
bunkers to ralieve us and then everybody hasg to take &
rope to let it down into the sea. Meanwhile, now and then
you.... [end of tape]
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Interviewee: Laon Helz (H)

Date of Recording: Aug. 15, 1990

l1dent. Number: ©}3-3

Track Number: T1-52

Interviewers: Reania Perel (R), & Silviane Feder (S)

H: Anyway, ¥You know, hunger ls a very painful thing. And

hunger can bend even & human will. What we had to confront
all of a sudden, thers weres woman who for [a cup of] soup
[and a slice of bread] went down to the craws habitation
far away. 5o we had to try to stop it scme way. We did.
Finally we discoverad, you know we couldn't even ahave,
because with salty water, no way you can, electric shaver
I didn't hava! Scap doasn't foam with salt water. Once a
wegk we could shower, 1t means a few buckets to throw sea
water, one at sach other.

Finally we discovered where they ara keeping their own
toodstuff, the crew. As I told you [I was} 29 years [old].
I could do anything. I was not the only youngster, so
£inally we diacovered where to open part of the plamks [to
the storage rooms] of the hoat. We got a hold of a rope -
two guys hold the rope. I was climbing down on the rope to
the Magazin [storehouse], to the food Magazin. If they
would have caught me they would have killed me. They
didn't, Anyway, we got some foodstuff, somehow. [Telaphone
rings. Mr. Holz answers. Tape i= stopped. ]

One thing...later we discovered the purpose of the
transport that besides that we were paying in Prague for
the transport with cold cash, the purpose of the transport
was to get hold of our passports. We had to hand them over
our passports. In those days 1938, 1939 it was big
business, passports, you know, I'm always forgetting those
things. You know when we left, naturally, that was one of
the preconditione was to have a valid passport. I always
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had a passport, my wife had a paseport, her mother, but
her father didn't have a passport. The time was too short

to get a faked passport 3¢ what to do.

As I told you, in those days, today, oyself, I can't
undargtand, how crazy 1 wase. You know what 1 4id? My
father-in-law msays he didn't have a passport, Adolt
Neumann, and hea had &n ancounter [a brawl] befora thay
left SBudetenland. He [had] slapped a German across his
tace {and said to him:] "You Nazi swine." You can imagine
what that means. Well, but this was still Czechoglovakia
but now the Germans were in Frague already and we were in
Praguea. You know, funny encugh, 1I've never been taken for
Jewigh, I nevar hid it, I didn’'t hide it, but I didn't run
arpund here with an inseription, "I'm Jawish, you see?" It
wag sven when the Garmans marched into Prague, it was
March 15th, 1939. We had, my wife had some jewels which we
handad over to the jeweler to transform them, let's say
[in order] %o take them eagier out [of the country] with
ug. Now the Germane marched in. I remember Btill the
morning, 7:00 o'clock in tha moining ay mother-in-law came
to our flat, to our bedroom, we ware still agleep, "Get up
kids, get up, the Germens are here." What I did, I got
dressed, shaved. "I'll try to get the jewels back as they
are, transformed or not trangformed." And off I went, I
had to crozs one of the main strests, the Grand Prague,
and there ware already, from all directions pouring in the
the Germans soldiars in formation. German policemen
already diracting the traffic and son on. To cross the
street, well I crossed it and I raised my hand ["Heil
Hitler" salute]. That's it. I came to the jaweler, got the
jewals and now I got ecared. Look, if they would have
caught me, empty, the pockets empty, so what, but jowels,
jewelry in my pockets, I'm that way, out.
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They know right away [that you are a Jew?)2

So anyway, I did the same thing, crossed the main street,
lixe this [with my hand up, "Heil Hitler" salute] and came
howe with the jewels. that was one thing. 1 repeated,
today I don't know how I did those things in those days.
but I told you, in thoee days, the word fear didn't exist
for me. Now I needed a passport for my father-in-law. To
get a pagsport, a correct passport, authorized by the
Germans, we neaded an authorized exit [visal.

Paople started to form gqueues at midnight to get to the
pasgport office the naxt day. Anyway I went up there, it
was close to the Vlitava, to the Mcldau [River) and March
was chilly. 1 was waaring you know those green “"hitle"
[caps] and I was relying on tha fact that they won't take
me for Jewish. The firgst guard was a Czech policeman, he
5ay5, "What do you want." 1 replied, "Secret Police."? He
let me go, Up there the second guard again, "What do you
want?" [I gald,] "Secret FPolice." [He said,] "Show him the
way." And I came to the German official there, a civilian.
You know, my German always was flawless, I was railassd
bilingual, Cgech and German, I came to the ogfficial, “"uWas
kann Ich fiir gich tun?" [In English] "What can I do for
you?" And I accepted the German way of speaking, "I nead a
passport.” [Tha German official said:] "wWhat's the name?"

2H: They would have interrogated me their way, you understand? By the way,
having the jewelry in the pockerts of my coat, it would have made very little
difference if T &m a Jew or a non-Jewish Czech. In hindsight, I don't know from
where | took the courage. We were not yet aware of the potential dangers or
future horrors. Since March 15th, when the Germans marched in to
Czechoslovakis, the air was tense, like with eleciricity. 100 bombers cruised over
Prague, to scare the population in case of potential resistance. We used to mest
at night - a few people - to discuss or comment about the possibility of leaving
the country. Sometimes a couple was missing; we never asked if they are among
the lucky ones who left the country, or if they are arrested by the Gestapo.

31 turned the lapel of my coat pretending 1o have some proof that [ am from the
secrer service. | impressed him with my attitude.
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Adolph Neumann, Adolph Naumann. I still remember so
vividly. "Don't you think I might have read this name on a
caertain 1iet?" [I replied,] "I think you are mistaken,”
and alowly I took out a bundle of billg, just to let him
[see. I again said] "You're mistaken, you're meost
cartainly mistaken.® [He said,]} "It ecould [bal maybe" and
1 put [a bigger bundle of] bills on the table, [finally he
said] "Yah, it could be that 1I'm miataken™ and I put it on
the table and in five minutes I had the passport. Qut I
went.

How much &id it cost you?

I don't know. In those days, money, I didn’'t count it.
Luckily enough, look I wasn't a rich man, neither were oy
parents, but I used to make money and I had money always.
That was not the object., the object was to get a passport
and to get out, you know, and then on the boat., I wanted
our passports back. And with us on the boat, on this boat
af 1500 tons there was the man from one of the organizers
of the passport. He was a Frenchman, Monsieur Marcelle.
And I approached him and told him, "Monsieur Marcelle.,* 1
uged to speak French teo, “Est-ce que je peux parler avec
vous?" "Could I talk to you, but very confidential.* O.K.,
let's meet on the deck, 11:00 o'clock at night, "O.K.*
Look, I was no tiny little fellow and with 29 or 30 years
I had & little bit of "koykhas" [strength], still he wae a
sturdy fellow, a young man. If he would have jumped me
[and thrown me] into the sea, nobody would have pald a
gingle word. Nobody would have known. Maybe hours later,
oy family would have discovered that I'm not on the boat
anymora. Luckily enough, I got tha paseports. He gave them
back to me.

Did you have to pay for them?

H: No, no, 1 juat had a very Iriendly talk with him, and 1

told him, I said to him, "Mr. Marcelle, look, today you
are on this boat, we are refugees, we are leaving the
country, think it over, I wish you should never be in the



fp—

i4

gsame situation, but who knows?" He was a Frenchman, you
know, with the Germans, thay are beasts. He started to
locok at me and gave me the passports.

Were the passports for evaryone or just for your family?

: No, just for my family. Look, I couldn't for everyane.

There werea 650 pacpla on board. He would have naver, it
would have been ridgiculous. But you know, then on the hoat
wa were cruising, no one let ua in.

How long wera you crulising like that?

: ¥ give you the total account, we had food for aight days,

the transport lasted three months. Meanwhile we went up to
Syria to Beirut.

: Go slowly now, that's an important satory. Like you went

back to the passport etory, but now you are returning to
the story on the boat and the cruising...

: There started hunger.
: The hunger began.
: Finally the crew landed somewhare in Turkay, or whatevar,

must have besen south of Istanbul, whatever, and they
brought some live animals on board. Well hunger is a very
bad thing. Ume of our guys had & gun. What we did, well I
wag not the only young fellow on the bhoat, so we organized
it, by word of mouth, kids, women, elderly people,
averything [everybody] down underneath the deck. And we
waere about two dozen boya, we were. We produced a "Mutiny
on the Bounty,” a mutiny, out, we took there tha captain
we took priscner, one gun and a few guys. Condltions to
set him free, whatever animal is on board, to be divided
[in] equal parts among everybody. S5o there had to be in &
short time, the crew was supposed to be in the same
position of paseing hunger as we were. Anyway, finally we
left. I amight even give you a chronological [account) ...
Wa laft Prague om March 3lst {[April 10th], we boarded
thoge tiny little ships on the Danube the next day, we
arrived in Sulina [Rumania] the 25th of April [May].
boarded the ghip, the pame was, it wag a very ill-fated
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ship that was guite well known. Frasula was the name. And
finally they let us in Syrla, in Tripoll, close o Betirut.
In Tripoli it was “"quatorze de juillet," the 14th of July,
that's the French national holiday, 1939 and there there
was a beautiful, beautiful naval parade, not in aur honour
but it was quatorze de Jjuillet, the 14th of July, a big,
big, big French holiday. We didn't understand at first if
the French perhaps or French or Arab policemen came on
beard. Each of them [had]l a handkerchief in front of their
noge. We ware gtinking, stinking, can you imagine we
couldn't wash properly, we were stinking horrible. Anyway
they directed us from Tripoli to Belxrut and in Beirut we
had the luck, the commander of the Franch garrison was a
fine, fine person, colonal from Alsace-~lorraine, a fine,
fine guy. First thing he ordered [us] off the boat and we
were transported teo a tranaport [transit] camp for Mecca
Pilgrims. A trangition camp for Mecca pilgrims. No luxury,
definitely, there was just & wooden plank and another
wooden plank to deposit the head and that's it. But you
know when we entered this whole receipt [reception]} for
those Macca pilgrims it was lika entering paradise for us.
We weres walking there were greens, there were fruits,
there werae figs, there were this and that, well the next
congequence waes that out of 650 pecple. 400 pecple became
aick. Our stomache ware not anymore used to digesting and
then there were further consequences., we were walking and
there were scorpions. You know what is a scorpion? Some of
the people wera badly bittan, it's terribly. terribly
palnful. Anyway...

Excuse me, I just want to ask, do you remember the name of
the person who allowed you off the boat, that fine percson,
he was a Frenchman? And the Mecca pillgrims was this a camp
especially, a transition place [for them]?

Yes, he was French. A colonel. It was not a camp, there
were walls, very thin orlental style walls, very thin
walls, there were let's gay rcoms with 20 or 40 wooden
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planks which served as bads.

R: Oh, I sae, Bo this 1s & transition sort of placa.

H: A transition camp for Mecca pilgrims, you know, Anyway
there we had plenty of food. The French provided for
plenty of food... Unfortunately there 1 got sick, first I
get ag a consequance of the bad food on the boat, because
in the end on the boat we had only rotten potatoes, sobpe
soup combined with I don't know with what liquid ever.
Anyway I got dysentery. You know on this cot, whatever it
was where I was laying, every five minutes there was an
ocpposite door on the other side of this room., there were
the lavatories. And havae you ever seen, I'm talking of
pre-Mussolini times, lavatories in Italy, just a hole, you
had to get out somewhare and you had to aim. That was in
Beirut, naturally, but there is one thing, 1f we are
healthy you get out somewheare and you make 1it, somehow,
but if you are weakened, you have fever and you are having
cramps, 50, anyway, I @did it, I came hack and was up &nd
down open. I hardly laid down on the cot again end I had
to run again, and agailn. Anyway. somehow I got out of it,
you know luckily esnough, I touch wood, 1 was never in my
1ife sick, except this [time). T got to myself again and
then I was bitten by a, I got tropical fever, you know,
it's the conseguence of a bite by a certain insect [sand
fly]. they call it pappataci [fever]. Fappatacl, you know,
is a Greek name. It's a five day fever but you get
weakened, 1 was not able to close my fist, completely
debllitated. Now finally we had to leave, that was another
problem. It was the time, thera started some disturbance
with the Arahs in Isprael, Tel Aviv. The troubie is, Jiden
[Jews], they can't keep their traps shut. Ko way. It
bacame public already in Israel and in Tel Aviv {that])
there gre Jiden [Jews)] in Beirut, a transport aof 6§50
i1llagal refugees. The consequence there were gome
disturbances in Tel Aviv and the French were forced to
tell us, "Get out" and we had to. Anyway you know on [the]
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high sea there was another transport of Polish Jews
meanwhile some BOQ people. So they decided that, a Jewlsh
organization, to get them somehow out or whatever 30 maybe
through the blockade because we Czechs, we were already
Germany invaded territory because Hitler invaded us on
March 15th. But Poland was etill a free Poland, [in
Polish] *Jeszrze Polgka nie zginela ["Poland has still not
disappeared" - Poland's national anthem), Ale zgingé
mugi”™ ["But it has to disappear"]. Anyway =50 they decided
wa have to get all of us on the bigger ship, it was not
big enough for 1400 or 1500 people but anyway and the
Polish should declare them, if ever asked, they should say
they are Czechs, German invaded territory already. Anyway
I was not a&ble to walk s0 they transported me on 2
gtretcher, the tiny little boat, it was at night time.
Even with the very calm sea it's moving, 80 we came to the
bkoat, [A man said,) "One, two, three, hup,” but thay threw
me a split of a second too lata, I was up till here in the
8ea already. Anyway, believe me, the Arabs are saying
*Alleh inshallah,” God is great ["if God wills"]. Somebody
grabbed me and they dragged me out oo a tiny laddsr. You
know, those emergency ladders and they dragged ma out to
the hoat. let's say [sc] that nobody should step on me, 1
couldn't move, I couldn't even talk, I was conplately
debilitated, ko they put me underneath the table. Later on
I discovered everything. You know they put me underneath
the table, [s0] nobody should step on me. Yuh? And that's
the way we drove to Tel Aviv., You know the crew of the
boat, finally they told us, "Look. Tel Aviv that's over
thare, yah, if some wind or whatever is swaying the boat
left or right, we'll have to make sither bas like that or
1ike that" [move the rudder accordingly). Fine. They took
all the instruments, because, if they would have been
caught by the English by the British, it was emuggling
peopla, a vary severe crime. 5o they left the boat taking
all the instruments with them, compasses and left the
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boat. 0.K. 80 out boys were running the boat. We were
approaching Tel Aviv, could zee already the lights of Tel
Aviv and all of a sudden, out of the blue came a Britigh
gunboat, "Stop." If they would have wanted to stop, they
didn't know how to stop. ancther "Stop.” After the third
"Stop," we wera machine gunnad. Well, two peopla were
dead. Tha gne thing they could do, turn around, on open
gea again. Wall, but there wae no altarnative, thera was
no food on the boat, ne drinking water, there were kids,
elderly people and so on., 50 meanwhile the people got the
news in Tel Aviv and there were big demonstrations in the
Jewish part. Next night we turned around, straight ahead
Tal Aviv. It was Shabbas nacht from the last to the 2nd
[cf] September, whan the war started [the night Germany
attacked Poland].

You know people told us afterwards they wera sitting,
"Have you ever heen in Tel Aviv? {Do} you know where Cafe
Pilz 18?7 On the HaYarkon [Street]. Shabbag nacht, Friday
evening. Jdancing and so on. Everybody went out to get a
hold of as many people as posseible from the ship. I
couldn't walk, I was on the boat, atill had to wait until
the police came that took us over and they interned us in
a former German colony there close to Tel Aviv, Sarafand.
Sc we've been interned by the Britieh. Well., they let us
looge after a certain time and that was gur arrival in
Israel. When 1 arrivad they put pe on oy feat, 1
collapeed, I had lost about fifty pounds of amy weight.
Fifty pounds i8 a hell of a lot, and no food and so on.
Anyway at 29 almost 30 years of age you get on your feet
again. I was never a weakling, I was very fat, I had a
good spot of education and believe me. you know, in
Czechopslovakia there was obligatory military service,
eightean months. The best thing a youngster can go
through. The bast thing. First of all it's a tough
education, you learn self-domination, you know, you get
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the message. The first time you get a big order on the
laft wing to report you get two days after a sarving, bhut
three daysa, by I neaed four days, finally, you get the
mezgage, "yes Bir" and that's the best thing in military
gervice. Today's youngsters thay don't know it, and they
are weak. So anyway I got [back] on my feet and that's the
story.

The next thing [was] to get a parnosse [aarn a living], it
was very hard but still, you know, in those daye the
gpirit in Israel was unique. Look we were fIrom this
trangpert forced on this boat, we were marked people. You
can imagine after such a time not being properly fed and
fafter] what we went through and 8o on and 80 on we went
through the streets of Tel Aviv and peaople, Saptember, and
September 15 still a nice, nice time in Israel, people
were asking us to come in, it down, have a refreshment
and the next question, "Nu, you're settled already?" Go to
this and this direction, here's a relative of mine, maybe
he can help you and if he can't he'll give you another
direction. So we have been really helped., you see, the
first days. for instance., we got food and some public...
you can't call 1t restaurants, we got, anyway, we got
food,...4 [end of Tape 1)

*H: When we left the Sarafand camp - which later became a Bridsh mitivary
camp - we got into a public kitchen. For only one piasier we got a lunch. A
piaster was 1/100 of a pound. [You know, the Palestine pound was equivalent to
: the British pound. The exchange rate was then, approximately, %4 U.S. to the
19 pound, except the Palestinian pound had 100 piasters, or, as it was called, 100
grushim.] These were only temporary arrangemenis; then we had to Jook for
. ourselves. In the Arab market, we bought for one grushim-piaster, 100 granges,
I as much as we could fit into a knapsack. So we filled our stomachs with oranges.
= To give it some taste, everybody got a slice of bread and a slice of sausage in
betweent. You know, 1 was 30 years of age and always hungry. The situation was
very bad. No jobs. No way to get employed.
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Anyway wa didn't go hungry [in the beginningl}.

So the Israalis, the apirit was so strong in Israel that
they took care of you, firmt fed you, then when they falt
that you were able to start to look after yourself they
advisgad you where to go and if one didn't help you then
another d4id. That was the situation?

Look thay astablished, there were, for inatance, the Oleh
Czechoslovakia, the Oleh Polonia [Poland], Oleh Austria,
for the Austrian refugees, for the Czech refugees, places
to go and to ask and to find out 1f there ies something.

You know, the firgt job I had when I finally could walk, I
did a department store., in a tiny little briefcase, you
know what 1 discovered among those Yiddele, you know,
Magid Morot [Hebraw, "swaeat ladias']. I discovered a
business. I got commiszsion, coffea, tea. Look, I tell you
the whole story in one single word, I satarted peddling. I
was not the only one, There was a doctor, an architect, a
former manager, whatever, peddling, coffee and tea and
soap. The scap was smelling from the coffee, the coffee
was amelling from the soap. Anyway that was my first job
and here again, look, I remambar it was in Rekhov Ban
Yehuda [Ben Yehuda Street in Tel Aviv]. I went to a
perfumery or whataver it was, I got the directions frem
other people and I asked them, "Would you trust me with a
few pieces of soap?" Because the coffee and the tea, that

wag no business, that was penny business, that was
nothing. But ths other buslness was not big buriness
either. Anyway, so 1 asked them "Would you trust me with
gome limited amount of your “skhoyre" [merchandise] and i
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atart selling 1t? "At night time I [will] come back, and
{for] what I [have] 2o0ld I [will] pay you and herg you
replenish my stock."™ And there were two partners, Austrian
Jiden [Jews] and they looked at me and said, "You know, I
think we can trust him." And they gave me "skhoyre”
[merchandisa]. Okay. next day in the afternoon I came back
to mattla accounts go they maid "COkay, but you have to
liva on something, keep i1t meanwhile and come back after a
weak, meanvhile we provide you with more socap or toilet
papar or skhoyre," and 8o 1 started. But atill it was, you
know, I was no bullet whatever. I was no big shot, [just]
a young fellow in Europe in Czechoslovakia.

: What were you doing before the War?

Bafore the War I was in the textile business in ladies
clothes, coats and 50 on, But peddling, to go from door-
to-door, it'as tough, You know, you have to survive. Habrew
I learned gquite soon, I'm luckily enough, no [problem]
matter of mind, I'm gifted for languages and besides I was
fiuent in Hebrew when 1 was a "boychick® of 15, 16 years.
Pecause we always were very Zionist oriented and I was
fluent in Hebrew. Then I forgot it. [When] we are not
talking a language, it's evaporating. But anyway, you
know, we had to survive, and I didn't know yet Iluent
Hebrew, but Yiddish "Bederech Gekimen," you know? How you
gay, but when you came in the heginning, well for me,
again, it's toilet soap, and this secap, and the Giveret
[ledy] is talking [saying], "Moshe sugt 'Ich darft
nicht,'" [Moshe sgaid,] "I don't need any"... "Who is
forbidding you?” 'Ich darft nicht' means "I don't need."
Versteht? [Do you understand?] Which in German means "1'o
forbidden, 1 shouldn't® {("I'm not allowed®]. She would say
"I hava enough" and that was true. Look, I'll glve you
another example, this comes later. In the meantime I got a
job, I heard there was a pogsibility in the Port of Jaffa,
the Arab Trigers [porters]... to transfer on my shoulders
sacks on a boat to the Aradb Tragers, three piasters an
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hour, which was mgney then. Eight hours work wasg 24
plasters a day in those days the dollar was four pounds.
80 it was money, you know? Anyway, it was not a nice job.

There came some friends and told me, "Look as far as we
remember, you used to play the piano, why don't you start
to play the pianc?" Well, meanwhile the War started, the
Australians came, the Aussiez, a lot of soldiers and 0 on
and I started big, big business there on the seashore,
primitive places [coffee shops] but whatever. "Why don't
you Btart to play the piano?" I didn't play [hadn't
played] the plano for ten years already. Anyway we asked
some friends if I may a little bit practice, but to play
the pianc and so on, everything ie connected with herves,
My nerves were shattered really. I didn't have the nerves
to remember what to play, 80 my wife sat next to me. She
was singing, whistling, she always knew those meliodies,
the American ones, but I couldn't remember them and she
started whistling, singing, nu, anyway, I got on my way
and offerad mysalf as a pianist. Those Yiddelakh, they
were 50 primitive people, some Of them. They knew...I
offered myself as a planist, okay.

I remgmber there was a ¥id [who saild,] "Wieviel Bassen
spielt Ihr?" ["How many bass buttons (knobs on the left
hand side for chords)} are on your {accordion)?"] Loock, I
have to explain 1t to you. They knew something about the
garmoshke [Bmall accordion {concertina}l}. Accordions,
there are with 50 basses, 80 basses, the big ones with 120
basses, &80 he heard an accordion with 120 basges and asked
me “How many basses are you playing?" [With boldness I
gaid, "I play] all the basses.” Anyway, I got my first
job. Do you know what it meant in those days...

Where was the job? What place was it, a restaurant, a
night club?

What? A night club? You are dreaming! It was, as we used
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to say in Israel, a "bardak." Do you know what a "bardak”
1is8? A body house, whatever. It was a hotel and restaurant
[in Tel Aviv], the music, whatever. Anyway. wa were
playing thera from 8:30 in the morning until 11:00 [p.m.]
at night time, you know what doss it mean? There wag an
interruption [8 break] of one hour at noon. I came home
first, my wriats were awollen, I wasn't used to play that
much anymore. Anyway, I give you anothar axample. This
first place, you know, I wasg looking for placeg, and one
day I came home and my wife told me to look, "There was
sonebody asking if the muslcian Holz was living here [and]
I said, "Living here are no musicians" when 21l of [a)
sudden I remembered, you (1] beacame & muBician. Anyway, 1
went there, well, I wasn't yet fluent in Hebrew you know
... and fine, fine paople, Sephardic Jews. "How much do
you agk." I knew I could bargain, s0 I said double of what
I expected. Naturally he offered me less, 30 finally we
agreed. Basides we had the soldiexs, they ware offering us
drinks. 50 we had to asgsk... [end of Tape 2: Side 1}
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S0 wa had to ask for this avocado,® whatever, and at the
end of the day because we got for every drink they offered
for us, they charged him four plasters and we got one
piaster for evary drink. Anyway at the and of the day
there was again bargaining. We asked for twenty drinks, we
had twenty. He said, "No, you had only ten," and we agreed
on fifteen. but there was one thing, you know, when they
started to brawl when they started to fight, those
Augtralians and these and that,.,.

What kind of clientele did come in? Soldiers? British and
Australian?

Only soldiers, mostly Australiang, they were axcallent
clients, the British, when British soldiers came in, they
said, "Limeys out, limeys out." But the Australians were
fantagtic, but you know the oldar Yiddelakh [waiters] took
advantage of them. You know, for instanca, they ware
always in groups of four, five, 8ix boys and they came
[after] when they [had been at the front)} fighting. Look,
I hava seen pictures how thay were fighting in Greece.
When the German paratrooperp came down, the Australians,
every 8ixth only had a rifle. Every sixth! Finally when
the situation was so0 desparate there was a Jewish brigade
too. S0 they shouldn't be caught asg Jawish boays the
Australians gave them their hats and their marks, their
"doggy marka" ["dog tags," sc that] they [the Jews]

5This was actually "egg brandy” - but it was not o be recognized as such - 1/5
egd bramdy, 4/5 waier.
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shouldn't be caught as Jewish by the Germans when they get
{bacame] prisoners of war. Anyway, but the Yiddele lived
with them, so for instance there came a group of five, gix
boys. They were consuming beer, incredible amounts. Okay,
s0 one of them ordered a round [of] beer. Okay? He gave
the walter a blll of five doallars. Mow the walter he was
in no hurry to glve him the change, meanwhile they drunk
it up [the beer]. The next one, "Another round for me." He
remembared the firast one gave him a pink bill, he gave him
again a pink bill. He didn't hurry to bring him the
change. That's the way they made money. They made money
you can't imagine, you cannot imagine, fabulous. But
anyway, B0...

You're now in 1940, yes?

That's 1940, yah, because I tell you then. My wife she
gtarted some alteration businegs. She knew how to do it,
anyway, it's tough to make business with Yiddeles, yah?
She delivered the alterations to them to pay. [They would
say,] *"Come tomorrow, come next waak, come tha week
after.” Finally, when I got a job as a musician [and] I
started to make momey. I gaid °"Mimi, out with the
alterations, to hell with it." And she satarted to work in
a bridge c¢lub. Ehe was a very good bridge player so she
startad to work in a bridge club. In betwaen - a nice
anacdote from the time when I was a musician - we met, she
met some people in the street, some acquaintances
whatever, and they asked her in Yiddish, she didn't speak
Yiddish but anyway., she got along. "Nu, wus tut dierx
Mann?" ["So, what doas your husband do?"] [She replied,]
"Min Mann gpielt." [*My husband plays."] "Vie spielte?”
["Whera does he play?"] "Mit die Hand." ["With the hand,”
she said.] You know what means "vie®? [The word in
Yiddigh] means "where," not *how." In German "How [does he
play with the hand]® [is] "vie spielte mit die Hand." [In
Yiddish, it means "where does he play with the hand?"]
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But look this first sngagement I had in thie hotel. The
name of the Hotal waeg Pulga [on the seashora]), it still
exlists. I've been thare a few years aqgo. I remember I went
there, The 0ld man, the owner, now there are his sons
there, some Saphardishe Yidden [Sephardic Jewe], nice,
nicea fellows. And I came in, this 0ld man, he was almost
completely blind already, he was gitting there and I
addressed him [in Hebrew, then Yiddish], "Atah," you,
"socharet ikvah, gedenk mir, no?" "You remember me?"
"Batach [certainly] you used to play here for me, you ware
from C{zechoslaovakia,™ (he gaid,] "you were playing in ay
place years ago.” Fine, fine people. S50 that's it.

: Ha recognized your voice.
: What ealse did I do? Oh yah, I renmember.

If you could sort of wind it up now and bring it...like
this is your life, and your struggle and jobs., the period
when the War ends. I mean, how 4id you feal? What do you
do? How do you participate? Did you hear about the
concentration camps? Did you know that? How did the peopla
react to 1t? What wags happening and that will conclude.®

: I was working as a musician. I had a partner, didn't know

about meanwhile [l1 improved my way cf playlng]. came back

6H: The situation in Palestine in 1939 was very difficule. | tried to contact people
I knew from Czechoslovakia, without much success. Later, 1 took an opportunity
in the port of Jaffa where I worked as a musician. When the War spread to the
shores of North Africa, plenty of military personnel came 1o Palestine where
there were 'leave’ camps established. As a consequence, business started to
flourish. In the beginning, we did not hear any rumours abour contentration
camps, but much later there were rumours about labour camps. It started in
1942-43. In summer time, because it gets so hot, we had to keep the windows
open. Sometimes we coukl hear terrible screams. At first, we did not know the
reason. There were people who somehow escaped from German prisons or
camps, but none of us knew sbout the concentration camps at that Lime.

After we had been released from Sarafand, I got an offer o join the British
police force (based on my training in the Czech army), 6 pounds & month.
Taking the advice from our friend in Tel Aviv, ] refused. When the German
armies advanced on Egypt, many Arabs were already walking through the streets
of Tel Aviv choosing which buildings they would annex if the Germans would
enter Palestine. The situation was noi pleasant. We were trained in sabotage.
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and I was playing in really nice places and I remember the
War ended I was playing in a nice Cafe 2abor there on Ben
Yehuda Streat.

I had a partner a Folish fellow and sure I started to
ipguira, 1 told you there were certain centres for Polisgh
Jewa for Hungarian Jews, Austrian Jaws, Czechoslovakian
Jews and ac on, and ona day 1 digcovared the name of my
parente on the ligt of survivore. You can imagine how
happy I was. You know I knew during the War already that
my parents had to move out from our house. Thea Jews in
Prossnitz were concentrated outside of the city. They had
to live four or five families in one room and then they
were transported to Thareslenstadt. In Theresianstadt I
even got a letter yat bafore they wera deported and my
mother wrote, "1 know we have to move, but I don't mind as
long as I am together with your father." You know, my
father before already, 1 knew that he, when the Germans
came Iin, when the German army came they were very polite.
You know @y father was the president of the Jewish
community in Frossnitz for quité a number of years and I
know when the German officers came to pick up my father he
gshould let them inte the offices of the Jewish community
B0 they were very polite. They even told him, "Mr. Holz,
first go you, after you,” they wera most polite. Then
there were 8lx or Beven of the leading Jewe in Prosanits
they were detained in the local jail. He was gtill happy
go lucky and he was among them. Later, there was another
story when he was imprisoned and was taken in some lumber
yard he had to carry lumber or whatever, this story 1 know
it from my uncle. I naver asked, I didn't want to provoke
anzwerg, I nevar agsked about sufferings, If people told me
I was listening but I was nevar asklng, you know. Then
they ware deported to Theresienstadi, Terezin, and fipally
... No, befora, my father was sizx months in Buchenwald and
again wag raleased. And then they were transported {rom




Theraslenstadt to Auschwitz., My father passed away on the
transport from Theresienstadt to Auschwitz and was just
thrown out from the wagon, My mother went into the gas
chamber on August &th, 1944, You know, as & conseguence, I
know only the date my mother perighed. I keep the yahrzeit
for hoth of tham on the &6th of Augquet 1944. It was tha 4th
day of Av. You ask me how do I know. I know from another
lady from our home town who was with her tl1ll the last day
when she went into the gas chamber. That's it. So you
know, when I read the notice that my parents survived you
can imagine how happy I was.

Then someday I just went to work, I got a cable from my
brother-in-law who was living in Stockholm in Sweden. I
8till remember the words, “Joseph and Elsa Holz,
Pirkenau," wae near Auschwitz whare Jews were burned
«....vary little hope.

Your know, I like to have a drink now and then, not only
now and then, I'm having a drink every day. At the
baginning Annie [Riebenfeld] was objecting but finally the
convinced hargelf I'm not a drunkard but I like to have oy
happy hour. I like to have a dArink, maybe even two. But I
never in my lifa was drunk. That night, lock, I couldn’'t
say I'm not coming to work, bacause if I wouldn't have
ghown up, oy partner would have bean without parnosse
[Iivelihood]l, 60 I had to show up, I had to play. I was
playing the plano, and, from time to time, the accordion.
There was dancing. I had just one gingle purpose, 1 wanted
to get drunk, to be without feeling, a hopelass thing. I}
congumad 80 many Adrinks, a0 many scotches that when 1
stood up from the pianc and grabbed the accordion I had to
lean on the piano to keep straight but I was completely
clear. I couldn't get drunk, you know,

Anyway, after the War we came back. I went back to
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Cezechoslovakia in September, 1946. My brother...

What about your in-laws?

No, meanwhile I got divorced. I wae divorced in Iarael, We
didn't have kids and we divorced in Iarael. So I came back
singla. My brother came back, he was with the Czach army
in England, bacause we were harbouring illusions, dreams
to get something back or whatever; we had two houses.
Anyway we didn't get anything back, ao whatever. There was
one thing I remember, I agreed with my brother. Well, I
met an uncle of mine that survived it in Theresilenstadt,
the brother of my late mother, and they wera Prossnitz and
when I came back my brother came bhack first, he wasg still
in uniform, an officer of the Czech army and we knew that
my mother, had befora they were deported, she gave a few
jowals to a former "shiksa" [non-Jewish woman], a shiksa
who was in our house for sixteen years until she married,
50 my brothar went over there, big thing there, "You
gurvived!" Dkay, then he asked her "Tell me, what about
the jewelry my mothar handed over to you?" [She replied, )
"Oh, we had to give it to the Garmans." You know, I asked
my brother bacause in those days it was shortly after the
War, whoever was outsida of Czechoslovakia was right,
whoever wag inside was suspicious [under suapicion] of
collaboration with the Germans. And I asked my brother why
didn't you draw your gun, “Where are the jewels? She would
have produced it." My brother gave me a very good answaer,
which I accepted, He sald, "Look, first of all I wae happy
that I sold the gun for 5,000 American cigarettes.
Secondly, we lost more than the jewelry." He was right, to
hell with it.

The third story, whan I came back to Czechoslovakia... you
found very few people. When you wara walking in Prague.
for instance, aleong the main sguars - do you know Prague
by any chance? - Along the main sguare at 7:00 o'clock at
night time your steps ware giving the echo [because)
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nobody was there; there was nobody in the whole square. In
the daytime when you met some people former acquaintances,
whatever, and then it started, "What becama of this, ﬁhat
bacame of that?"

: Are you talking of all paople or Jews?
: Jewa. In 1946. "What about this and this fellow?" Gone,

gone, gone.’

: And you are in Prague now not in Prosanitz?

In Prague. To Prossnitz I went only to vigsit oy uncle.

: And you mean the Prague community, the 350,000 Jews that

lived once thars, all wag gone and vanished.

There 15 in Prague in the Pinkas Synagogue, 1s a memorial
of most of Czech Jews which perished, Look, I have
pictures from Jewieh synagogues in Prague. A goy [(non-Jew]
sant 1t to ma, a goy who went his mother's living and time
and again and ha from Vancouver went to Czechoglovakla and
he brought me thoge pictures and he mailed [me] a few of
them. That's why I'm going to Czachoslovakia [soon].
Prague is a very notable, outstanding place from the point
{of view] of Jawish culture., Don't forget Prague's Jewish
culture starta in the 11th and 12th century.

Oh yes, I have books and storles of thera.

: Ligten, a niece of Annie [Risbenfeld] 1s working

voluntarily in Tel Aviv in [some neighbourhoed,] and thare
was a few months ago the Czech president, Vaclav Haval,
there in Israel.

Cne of our [Organization's] vice-presidents was thare at
this gathering because five people from Vancouver went to
this gathering of the Czechoslovak Jews and Dr., Helen
Karsai was present.

TH; When | came back o Czechoslovakia in 1946, | have met a few people, new
acquaintances, and I was not the only one who was asking the question
"Why?".... An ald, very pious man told me, “Don't ask questions because there
are no answers.” I think this was the clearest answer | ever gol.
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I have just been handed a book. The title is “"Where
Cultures Meet: The Story of Jews of Czechoslovakia.® Ch,
what a baautiful book. If we have your permission we would
like to borrow it before we write up your story.

Yah, but pleasa take care.

We won't take it until we need it.

Okay, when I come back [from Prague]). I wanted to show you
something.

I would like you to now complete parhaps how you came to
Canada and to describe and talk about your feelings.

I went to my home town just for a short visit on weekends
to see my uncle. He survived with his two kids, his son-
in-law came back with TB and ha had a whole year he had to
he put...anyway...he Burvived that and is living today in
Igrael. My uncle and his wife passed away meanwhile, He
was an old, old man. He passed away [when] he was around
30. {They all survived the concentration camps.]

Anyway, s0 I started some businems again. Look, I was
lucky, doesn't matter if you put on thea word luck or
whatever. You know, I was educated and I grew up in a
very. let's say, "hechoved" ["nikhbad?" Hebraw for
*honourable"] Jewlsh home, not Orthodox, [butl] naturally
it was kosher. My grandfather, he was really a dreamer. My
father he had a vary considerable knowledge of Jewish
things, belongings and a0 on. After all, he was for many,
many years the Rpsh HaKehilah [Head of the community) and
I didn't want to stay in Progsnitz in my home town 80 I
was in Prague and there I had friends and there was a
friend of mine who came back to Teplitz-Schépau, that's in
the Sudetenland. Teplitz-Schdnau is the place where =y
first wife came from, Teplice-Sanov today. That's the area
not far from Karlsbad ["Karlovy Vary" in Czech) and o on
and so on. Anyway, I got an offer to enter as a partner in
a buginess, let's say, the fellow who got the business his
parants perished and he took care of the business but he
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needed a partner. He neaded 3 partner, let's say. who is
familiar with the textile business, it was textile
wholesale and retail and then there were [a)] precondition
that he {the prospective partner] was fluent in Czech,
which I am. [Interview stopped. A vigitor arrives]}... I
enterad into an established [textile] buainess. I got a
bad smell, I did very well there financially. extremely
wall, but I got a bad small that the Pinkies ["Pinkos")
are going to take over.

The Communists were coming?

: Yah, 50 I went on a short vizit to Sweden. I intended at

least for a short wvisit to Sweden to find out what's the
bast way to transfer some values [valuahles] or whatever.
Anyway, my Iintention was to stay in Sweden for a week. But
meanwhile on Fabruary 18th was the change of the
government to take over by the Pinkies ["Pinkos"} in
Cexechoslovakia and I Qidn't return anymore.

What yser was that?

: 194B. 1 leaft on January 28th. and February 18th was the

changeovar. 80 I was stranded in Sweden, stranded is
exaggeratad because you know my late sister was living
there, and my brother-in-law, my brother, anyway, but I
made up my mind {that] I wanted to get out of Eurcpe.
Because, you know, in those days you opened up the
newspapar in Sweden, "fifty aircraft, nationality unknowm,
over flew the north of the country." Everybody knew they
were Russians. Because they were already firm grip over
Finland. So I made up oy mind I want to get out of Europe.
I want between the Russiang and myself, I want a big, big
water. So I went wherever they let me in. There was no
country that would let me in with a "pinkie™ pagsport,
with a Czech passport [from a Communist country]. Well,
anyway, somehow I managed, T got. There was a fine fellow
in the Czech Embasasy in Steckholm. I got a periect,
waterproof passport and he told me there's only cne thing,
*With this passport never step on Czech poil or you'll get




B T T vl ok Pl
Y .

T,

33

gsome bracelets [handcuffs}." With this passport I
immigrated to Chile with 25 dollars in my pocket in 1949,
Just a minute, 1946 I came back to Ceechoslovakia, 1948 I
immigrated to Sweden and 1949, ya, from Sweden I went to
Switzaerland and got a job in a hotel, then back to
Stockholm and then to Chile,

In Chila I got marriaed, two kids were born and after 16
years of marriage my wife passed away. She was sick for
five years, cancer, and she passed away. Shortly after 1
remarried [to]} a very nice lady. She was a widow too, and
agaln, ag & conseguence of the Communist takeover [by
Salvador Allenda, in 1970], we emigrated to Vancouver.

: What year was that?

[In] 1970 we laft Chile and 1971, January, we arriwved in
Vanceouver. In Vancouver my wife became sick and again,
After an illness of five yeara, she pasgad away. Again we
were married for 16 years, an extremely happy marriage,
you knew her.3

: I did too, I met her too, and I met your daughter one time

in the apartment down in the West End [downtown
Vancouver).

: Shortly after my wife passged away, Benno passed away,

Annie [Riebenfeld] and I got together. So I started to say
gsomething before, you know, I was raised in a ...
[end of tape]

8H:. When we came to Vancouver in 1971, T became a sales representative for
some companies in Germany, {taly, Switzerland, etc. T started selling very well,
but unfortunately, there came the devaluation of the dollar and the business went
sour. The Canadian customers did not want to accept any price increases and the
European exporiers refusaed to ship at better prices. | was desperaie. My wie
Liselotte asked me if we had enough money to make ends meet. My answer was
positive, but I needed some activity. She said, "Who knows how many years to
come we still can enjoy life. Let's enjoy it-" So right she was. Shortdy afterwards
she underwent cencer surgery. After an excellent marriage of 16 vears, she
passed away. My wife did not work. Her occupation was to keep me happy.




H:

34

interviewee: Leon Hols (H)

Date of Recording: Aug. 15, 199¢

Ident. Numper: 03 ~3

Track Number: T3-Bl

Interviewers: Renia Perel (R), & Silviana Feder (S}

[My former wife's name was] Lismelotte, You know what I
wanted to point out, just a very short thing, I'm no
Orthodox Jew. I'm not going every Saturday to shul. I even
didn't put on my tafillin since the bar mitzvah, but I am
a believar. Let's say, there was definitely, not always,
smooth sailing in my life.

When you say you're a bheliaver, you mean you're a believer
in God?

Yah. That's why before I told you, call it lucky, soma
people call it luck, some people call it dagtiny. I den't
agpire, I don't take it for my "hokhma" [wisdom] =y brain,
that let me to make the changez I did as a conseguence to
avoid being harmed or whatever. Peginning from the fact
that from 1%38 we started to prepare the axit from
Czechoslovakia and Hitler, something was pushing me and
that's what I am attributing to divine provision, %o
divina, call it provision, vision, whatever it is. And
again, after all, that I have met Annie [Riebenfeld)] who
ie a2 wonderful wife and companion with all you to the ways
I've been led. You know luckily enough, both of us, Annie
and I, have the same Jewish background, we don't take it
for granted. Don't forget Annie's getting 78 in a couple
of months, I'm pushing for 82. There are a few things
which would have been better fifty years ago. We haven't
got anymere the slasticity which we needed, lat’s say
Annie [Riebenfeld] wag luckier than I was, she didn't go
through such mishaps or whatevar it wasg, as I 4id, but
today I haven't got anymore the elasticity and the nerves
I had in former days but we are fully aware both of us,
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luckily enough, that we are blessed.? That's it.

God bless you with many years of happinass with you and
Annie and thank you for giving us this story: perhaps
others will understand how all this happened to our
peaple.

Thank you.

Whether due to work of the "All mighty' or destiny, 1 crossed paths with Aanie
Ricbenfeld - an cutstanding lady - the jewel of her family. We had years of
harmony, understanding and happiness - but only less than seven years.

My message? When in 1938 my brother and 1 left the home of my parenis to
join the army, my father said to us: "Be good Jews, be Menschen.”
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Prossnitz ("Prostéjov"™ in Czech) - city in the Moravia
ragion of Czach Rapublic about 50 km northeast of Brno.

Pogen {("Foznaf” in Polish) - city in Poland about 275 km
west of Warsaw.

Gemilut Fhasadim - (Hebraw, "doing acts of charity™)
fundamental social virtue involving duties of sympathetic
consglderation toward otherg. Considered one of the three
pillars of Judaism. Since the middle ages the term hag
applied to the act of lending meoney to a needy person free
of interest. As a result, sociaties have bheen set up for
thie purpose.

Tel Aviv - large coastal city in lsraal.

Holocaugt - Greak, "burn* (Hebraw, "Sho'ah”).

Refars to the mazsive parsecution and destruction of
European Jawe by the Nazls (National Soclalist German
Workers' Party led by Adolf Hitler), from 1933-1945,
culminating in the murder of approximately 6,000,000 Jews.

Protestant - a member of any of the Christlan groups that
saparated from the Church of Reme during the Reformation,
or of their later branches.

Roman Cathollic - of, relating to, or being the body of
Chrigtians that are in communion with the pope and that
have a hlararchy of prleste and bishops under the pope, a
liturgy centered in the Mass, and a body of dogma
formylated by the church.

Bogdan Khmielnitski (c.1595-1657) - A Ukrainian Cossack
who led a rebellion in 1648 againgt Poligh rule in the
Ukraine that ultimately led to thea transfer of the
Ukrainian lands east of the Dnieper River from Polish to
Russian control. Between 1648 and 1649, Khmjelnitzki's
Cossack troops murdered over 100,000 Jews. Many Jews had
worked for Polish noblaman who owned land in the Ukraine,
which made Jews targets of Khmielnitzki's vengeance,

pogrom - Russian for an anti-~Jewish riot, or more
specifically, a8 mob attack on Jews.

synagogue - Greek, "assembly” (Hebrew, "Bet Ha-Knesgei").
The house of worshlp and communal centre of a Jewish
congragation.
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rabbl - Hebrew, "my master,* "my teacher."

A Jew gqualified to interpret and give decisions on Jewish
law, often ordalned for professional religiocus leadership
of a Jewish congragation.

Moravia - reglon in Czech Republic, east of Bohemia.
Vienna - capital of Austria, on the Danube.

Shabbetal Zevi {1626-1676) - mid-geventeenth-gentury false
messian. Eis messianic movemant gained a lot of followers
in Europe, North Africa and especlally in the Middle East.
In 1666, he waz arrested by the Sultan in Turkey and given
the choice of death or conversion to Islam; he became a
Muslim. The widespread pogroms perpetrated by the Cossacks
in the sgeventeenth century led many religious Jaws to
expect the arrival of the Messiah. This belief partly
explains why B0 many were recaptive to Shabbetal Zevi's
¢laim.

Judah Leily (ben Jacob Hollaschau) Pressnltz (c.1670-1730)
A leading follower and promoter of Shabbetai Zevi (a mid-
17th-century false messiah) based in Prossnitz. Judah Lelb
was eventually excommunicated.

Haskalah - Hebrew term for the Enlightenment movement
within 18th- and 1S9th-century Jewish society which grew
out of tha ganeral Enlightenment movemsant in l18th-century
central Eurcope. The Magkilim {adherents of the Haskalah)
streassed the atudy of philosophy, secular culture, and
languages to enable Jews to become more a part of their
environment. The movement, ancouraged by German rabbi and
philosopher, Moses Mendelssohn, spread from Germany and
Western Europa to Galicia, Lithuania and some aresas of
Bussaia. Thare was consliderable opposition from the
Orthodox, including the Hasldim.

Sudatenland - a region of the former Czechoslovakia
comprised of parts of pnorthern Bohemia and Moravia near
the Sudeten mpuntain ranges. The area, having a large
ethnic German population. wes ceded to Garmany at Hitler's
demand in October, 1938. After WWII the Sudetenland was
restored to Czechoslovakia (which is presently part of the
Czech Republic}.

Prague - capital of the Czech Rapublic.

Teplice - formerly Teplice-5anov (German, "Teplitz-
Schiinau™), a city in nerthern Bohemia, Czech Republic,
about 75 km northwest of Frague, near the German border.
Stockholm - port city and capital of Sweden.

UZgorod - town in Ukralne, about 5 km east of Slovakia.
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parnocese — Y144dieh, "making & living (livelihoeod}."

Godesberg - German city where British prime minister
Neville Chamberlain met with Hitler for the second time
{Septamber 23-24, 1938). At the meeting, Hitler demandes
Tegions of Czechoszlovakia (Sudetanland) where there was a
large number of athniec Germans,

8.85. -~ German abbreviation, *"Schutzstaffel® or "elite
guard." A unit of the Nazis created initially to garve as
protection for Hitler but later aexpanded to take charge of
intelligence, central gecurity, policing, and axtermin-
ation of "undesirables.*

S.A. - German, *Sturmabtelung” ("assault divielons") or
Storm Troopers. Paramilitary organization founded in
1921 that played a major role in the rise of the Nazi
Party in the early 1930Q'sa.

Hlinka Guard - armed followers of Andrej Hlinka [(1854-
1938), Slovak patriot who lad the Slovak autonomist
opposition to the Czechoslovak government in the 1920s and
1930s.

[Arthur)} Nevilla Chamberlain {(1869-1940) - British prinme
minigter from 1937 to 1940. Known for his policy of
appeasement toward Adolf Hitler just prior to the eruption
of WWII. At Munich, September 30, 1938, he and Pramier
Daladier of France granted Hitler's demands over the
Sudetenland; however, whan Hitler geized the rest of
Czachoslovakia March 10-16, 1939, Chamberlain ebandoned
his policy ¢f appeasement and signed agreements
guarantesing armed support for Poland, Rumania, and Greece
in caze of gimilar German aggression.

Benito Mussolini (1883-1945) ~ Italian Fagcist prime
minister from 1922-1943. Whan WWII began, Mussolini allied
himself with Hitler. when Italy was defeated in 1943,
Mussolini was expelled from office. He was shot and killed
by his own countrymen in 1945.

pachad - Hebrew, "fear.”

anti-Semite - one who 1&g hostile to, or discriminates
against, Jews as a religious or racial group.

Danubhe - river in central and scutheastern Europe flowling
2776 km southeast from southern Germany into the Black
Sea.

Samlin (Zemun) - town on the Danube in Yugoslavia, close
to Belgrada.

Belgrade - capital of Yugoslavia.
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7 Sulina - town in Rumania at the mouth of the Danuba on the
Black Sea.

Budapest - city on the Danube, capital of Hungary.

8 Bosphorus -~ ptrait batween Turkey's European and Asian
sides connacting Seaa of Marmara and the Black Sea.
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& Istanbul -~ city in northwestern Turkay on the Bosphorus
and Sea of Marmara.

8 boychik - Yiddish, ®littls boy."
8 gehlep - Yiddish, "to lug; to carry something burdengsome.”

8 Dardanelles - strait in northwestarn Turkey connecting the
the Saa of Marmara with the Aegean Bea.

8 Black Sea - gea between Europe and Asia connected with the
Aegean Sea through the Bospherus, Sea of Marmara, and the
Dardanellas.

& Mediterranean Sea - gaa located between Europe and Africa
connecting with the Atlantic Ocean through the Strait of
Gibraltar and with tha Red Sea through the Suez Canal.

10 Magazin - German, "storehouse, warehouse."

11 Nazi - German, shortened form of "pationalsoziallst®
{"national socialist"). A membar of tha fasclst “National
Socialist German Workers' Party" {*Nazi"), founded in
1819, which controlled Germany from 1933 tg 1945 under
Adolf Hitler.

12 Vitava - Czech name for the Moldau Rivar.

12 Mpldau (Vlitava) - river 270 miles ipn the Bohamian ragion
of the Czech Republic flowing north into the Elbe River.

I2 hitl - Yiddi=h, "a cap.”
12 quaua - to form a lina.

13 monsieur - French, "sir, gentleman.® Title before a name
as in English, "Mr.*

13 koyakh - Yiddish, “Strength" ("koakh® in Hebrew).
14 Beirut - port city in, and capital of, Labanon.

15 Tripoli - port city in Lebanon, about 70 km north of
Belrut.
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quatorze de julllet - the l4th of July, "Bastille Day,"
the national holiday commemorated throughout France
celebrating the storming of the Bastille in 1789, which
was the beginning of the French Revolution.

Alsace-Lorraine - a historic reglon of northeastern
France. Many wars were fought between France and Germany
for control of thlis area. The major cities in this region
include Strasbourg, Meiz and Nancy.

Mecca - city in Saudl Arabia near the Red Sea. Aa the
birthplace of Mobammed (570-632), it is the holiest city
of Islam. Throughout the world, Muslims face toward Mecca
during prayar. The Iaslamic religiom stipulates that all
Muslims, who are able, are axpactad o make a pilgrimage
(hajj} to Mecca at least once,

scorpicn - a emall anlimal of the order of arachnids
(spider group) with lobster-like claws and a venomous
gting in itme long jolnted tail.

dysentery - a disease causing inflammation of the
intestines.

pappataci Iever (alsc known as Phlebotomus fever, Three-
day fever, or S5and Fly fever) - acute, infectloue disease.
characterized by fever, abhdominal digtress, and dizziness,
caused by a virus transmitted by the female sand fly
(Phlabotomus papatasii), prevalent in the summer around
tha Meditarranean Sea, the Middle East, and in parts of
Indja.

Judan - Garman, "Jews."
"Alleh inshallah™ - Arahic, "if God wills."

Adolf Hitler (1889-1945) - Austrian-born founder and
leader of the fascist National Socialist German Workers'
Party {NAZI) from 1920, and chancellor of Germany from
1933. Hig destructive anti-Samitic policies led to the
murder of about 6,000,000 Jews.

Shabbas Nacht - ¥Yiddish for "Sabbath night" (Friday
evening}. The Jewlsh Sabbath lasts from sunzet Friday
until sungat Saturday.

HaYarkon St. - a atreet in Tel Aviv, Ierael, pamed after
the river. Tel Aviv's luxury hotels and several embassies
are located along this street which spans the length of
the downtown beaches.

Sarafand - a coastal village in Israel about 15 km south
of Sidon {(formerly called Zarephat, an ancient Fhoenician
Village in Eretz lIsrael).
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"au" -~ Yiddish expression, "well" or "so."

Yiddele - ¥Yiddish, (diminutive) "a little Jew."

clah - Hebrew, "immigrant returning to Israel, pilgrim.”
skhoyre - Yiddish, “goods, merchandise.”

rekhov - Hebrew, "street."

Ben Yehuda 8t. - a street in Tel Aviv named after the man
credited with the revival of the Hebrew language, located
betwaan HaYarkon S5t. and Dlzengoff St.

giveret - Hebrew, "lady."

Zionism - political mgovament supporting tha astabllshment
pf a Jewish national or religious community in Palestine
{Israel).

Jaffa - ancient port in central Israel., connhected to Tel
Aviv in 1949,

Triger (Trehger) - German, Yiddieh, "porter, baggage
handler,"

¥id - Yiddish, “a Jaw."

plaster - currency. There are 100 piasters in one pound
(unit of currency in Egypt. Lebanon, Syria, atc.)

pound - unit of currency.

garmoshka - Russlan (Yiddish)., "a small accordion
{concertina).”

Sephardim - Hebraw, descendantz of Jews who lived in Spain
or Portugal beafore the expulsion of 1492, spreading
throughout North Africa, Italy, Western Europe. and the
Balkans. The Sephardim developed a digtinctive language,
Ladingo {Judec-Spanish), and have forms of religious
practice which differ in certain ways from that of the
Ashkenazim (Jews of central and eastarn European originm).

limay - slang, "a British sailor.”

Yiddelakh - ¥iddish, "many Jews™ or "a group of Jews."
dog tags - a military identification tag.

Sephardishe Yidden - Yiddish, *Sephardic Jews.”

betakh - Hebrew, "certainly (of course)."
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Theresienstadt (Terezin) - town in Czechoslovakia which
the Nazis made s Jawish ghetto 1941-45. 150,000 persons,
mostly assimlilated Jews from central and western Europe
were depported there. In 19413, the Germans displayed it ag
a "model saettlament®™ to the International Red Cross,
intending to conceal the extermination of Europsean Jewry.

Auschwitz (Polish, "OAwiecim") - German name for the
concentration and death camp in Poland, 48 xm west of
Krakow (Cracow), established in 1940.

Birkenau - the mass extermination camp constructed in 1942
at Auschwitz, named "Auschwitz II Birkenau”™ {in Polish,
"Odwigcim-Brrezinka®).

Yahrzeit - Yiddish, from German, “"year's time."

The anniversary of the death of a close relative
commemorated by the burning the yahrzelt light for 24
hours and reciting the Kaddish by the mourner.

*Av" - month of the Jewish religlous year lasting thirty
days {it falls in July-August)

shikza - Yiddigh, "a non-Jewish (young) woman.”
goy - Yiddlsh, “a non-Jewlsh perscn.”

Vaclav Haval - noted playwright, in 1989 became first
non-Communist presidant of Crechoslovakia since 1948.

Vancouver - largest city in British Columbia, Canada.

Tuberculosls - An infectious disease caused by tha
tubercle bacillus and characterized by toxic gymptoms or
allergic manifestations which primarily affaect the lungs.

nikxhbad - Hebrew, "honourabhla.”*

Orthodox Judaiem - Judaiam that adbaras to the Torah and
Talmud &s interpreted in an authoritative rabbinic law
code and applles their principles and regulatisns to
madern living.

Rogh HaKehilah - Hebrew, "Head of the Congregation.”

Karlsbad (German)}; Karlovy Vary {Czech) - spa town in the
wastern Bohamian region of the Czech Republic, about 110
km west of Prague.

kosher - Yiddish, from the Hebrew "kasher,™ meaning “fit"
or "proper." The preparation of food in accordance with
Jewisgh law.
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pinko - slang term for an individual of liberal or mildly
radical socialist political opinione. Term also applied to
a suspected Communist.

shul -~ ¥Yiddish, “synagogua" (Jewlsh house of worship) or
"schoul® (as in Garman, "Schule®).

tefillin (Hebrew, "phylacteries."} Two black leather bozxes
containing portions of the Torah written on parchment,
worn by adult male Jews at morning prayer {and during the
aftarnoon gervice on tha "Ninth of Av"}, but not on
Sabbaths and Fastivala. Affixed by black leather straps,
one ig worn on the forehead, the othar on the left arm.

bar mitzvah - Habrew, "son of the commandment."

The caremcny at which a l3-year old Jewiszsh boy reads a
pertion from the Torah. The bar mitzvah boy 1s considered
an adult in regards to religious duty and responsibility.

hakhma - Hebrew, "wisdom.™

Menschen ~ (plural of "Mensch"). Literally., German for "a
human being™ (°“Mensach"). In Yiddish, it is consldered a
very high compliment implying that ona is a decent and
conpassionate person.
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RELEASE AND ASSIGNMENT

NAME : Holz leon

KNON ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that [ _ [oon Holz

for good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby
acknowledged, subject only to the conditions noted below, do
hereby sell, grant, convey and assign unto The Western
Association of Holocaust Survivor-Families § Friends, its
successors, assigns, licensees, forever all rights, title and
interest in that recording of the interview between myself and
The Western Association of Holocaust Survivor-Families & Friends
inctuding all drafts, revislons, and translations of the
recording, which may heretofore have been or may be made or which
may hereafter be made and/or published in any other term,

including written, oral or visual.

I HEREBY ACENOWLEDGE and consent to The Western Association of
Holocaust Survivor-Families § Friends, maxing multiple copies of
the recording and publishing the context either as sound

recordings or in printed form.

CONDITIONS: None or

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED
in; the presesnce of:

Witness
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